IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

LEGAL	ENVIRONME	ENTAL	ASSISTANCE
FOI	INDATION.	TNC.	•

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 83,039

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON THE CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT CASE NO. 92-3200

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID A. LUDDER
ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER
Fla. Bar No. 0799998
LEGAL ENVIRONMENTAL
ASSISTANCE FOUNDATION, INC.
1115 North Gadsden Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32303
(904) 681-2591

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under existing Florida Law, not limited to the State's EPA-Approved Underground Injection Control Program, where a holder of an exploratory well construction and testing permit has made a timely application for an injection well operating permit, does the construction and testing permit continue in effect past its expiration date until the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation has acted on the pending application?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

LEAF filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida on July 22, 1991 seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against the Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County, Florida ("the Board") for the underground injection of treated domestic wastewaters without a valid permit since December 20, 1988 in violation of the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency - approved underground injection control program for the State of Florida.

On July 1, 1992, LEAF filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of liability alone, deferring the issue of relief to a later time. In Defendant's Response and Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed on July 13, 1992, the Board requested "that this Court enter its judgment in favor of Defendant ... based upon an Order of Final Summary Judgment" On November 6, 1992, the

¹Complaint, R1-1-1. All record references are in accordance with the convention followed by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. The first letter and number ("R1") refers to the volume, the second number ("-1-") refers to the document number, and the final number ("1") refers to the page number within the document.

²Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, R1-16-1.

³Defendant's Response and Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, R1-21-13.

Court granted the Board's request for summary judgment and denied LEAF's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.4

LEAF timely filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit which, on January 12, 1994, certified a question of Florida law that is determinative of the cause, but unanswered by controlling precedent of the Supreme Court of Florida.

II. Statement of Facts

In late 1974, Congress enacted the Safe Drinking Water Act, Pub. L. No. 93-523, 88 Stat. 1660 (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C. §§ 300f - 300j-26 (1988)), Part C of which addresses the protection of underground sources of drinking water. To protect present and potential underground sources of drinking water from endangerment caused by underground injection of wastes, Congress mandated the establishment of a regulatory program to be administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") or a State if EPA approval of the State program is obtained. 42 U.S.C. § 300h-1 (1988). Among the minimum requirements which Congress demanded be included in this regulatory program is a requirement that underground injection which is not authorized by a permit be prohibited. 42 U.S.C. § 300h(b)(1)(A) (1988).

Order, R2-38-1; Judgment, R2-39-1.

⁵In addition, Congress demanded that the permit applicant bear the burden of satisfying the state that the proposed injection will not endanger drinking water sources. 42 U.S.C. § 300h(b)(1)(B)(1988).

Thus, permitting of underground injection activities is a fundamental component of the regulatory scheme to prevent endangerment of underground sources of drinking water. Moreover, Congress intended that "actual contamination of drinking water [should not be] a prerequisite either for the establishment of regulations or permit requirements or for the enforcement thereof." H. R. Rep. No. 93-1185, 93rd Cong., 2d Sess. at 32, reprinted in 1974 U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News at 6484.

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 300h-1 (1982) (current version in 42 U.S.C. § 300h-1 (1988)), the EPA Administrator published notice of his approval of the underground injection control program of the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation in the Federal Register on February 7, 1983. The effective date of the EPA-approved Florida underground injection control program was March 9, 1983.

During the period from December 20, 1988 through April 26, 1989, the Florida underground injection control program included Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.11 through 17-28.64 (Supp. 1982).

Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.31 (Supp. 1982) provided <u>inter</u> alia:

⁶Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-8. <u>See also</u> 48 Fed. Reg. 5556 (1983).

⁷Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-8. <u>See also</u> 49 Fed. Reg. 20203 (1984).

(1) General Prohibitions

(a) Effective no later than the effective date of this rule, any underground injection through a Class I or III well is prohibited, except as authorized by permit.8

Fla. Admin. Code Ch. 17-28 (Supp. 1982) provided for three types of Class I injection well⁹ permits: (1) Class I Exploratory Well Construction and Testing Permit [Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.32 (Supp. 1982)]; (2) Class I Test/Injection Well Construction and Testing Permit [Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.33 (Supp. 1982)]; and (3) Class I Injection Well Operating Permit [Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.34 (Supp. 1982)]. The application requirements for each type of permit were different. The supplication of the su

Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.31, -28.32, -28.33, and -28.34 (Supp. 1982) were subsequently renumbered as R. 17-28.310,

⁸Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-8.

⁹A Class I injection well includes "municipal (publicly or privately owned) disposal wells which inject fluids beneath the lowermost formation containing, within one-quarter mile of the well bore, an underground source of drinking water." Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.13(1)(a)2. (Supp. 1982) certified by Florida Secretary of State, R1-16(folder exhibit)-4.

¹⁰Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-8; Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.32, -28.33, -28.34 (Supp. 1982) certified by Florida Secretary of State, R1-16(folder exhibit)-16, -17.

^{11&}lt;u>Compare</u> Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.32(3) (Supp. 1982) with 17-28.33(2) (Supp. 1982) and 17-28.34(1)(c) (Supp. 1982) certified by Florida Secretary of State, R1-16(folder exhibit) -16, -17.

-28.320, -28.330, and -28.340 respectively, but otherwise remained unchanged. 12

In 1974, the Florida Legislature passed the Administrative Procedure Act, Ch. 74-310, § 1, at 952, Laws of Fla. 13 Section 120.60(3) thereof provided:

When a licensee has made timely and sufficient application for the renewal of a license which does not automatically expire by statute, the existing license shall not expire until the application has been finally acted upon by the agency, and, in case the application is denied or the terms of the license are limited, until the last day for seeking review of the agency order or a later date fixed by order of the reviewing court.

Section 120.60(3) of the Administrative Procedure Act as enacted in 1974 has since been renumbered as § 120.60(6), but has otherwise not been materially changed. 14

On August 31, 1988, Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-4.090 was adopted. It provides <u>inter alia</u>:

(1) Renewals. Prior to sixty days before the expiration of any Department operation permit, the permittee shall apply for a renewal of a permit on forms and in a manner prescribed by the Department. . . . When the application for renewal is timely and sufficient, the existing permit will remain in effect

¹²Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-9; <u>Compare</u> Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.31, -28.32, -28.33, and -28.34 (Supp. 1982) certified by Florida Secretary of State, R1-16 (folder exhibit) -15 through -18, <u>with</u> Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.310, -28.320, -28.330, and -28.340 certified by Florida Secretary of State, R1-16(folder exhibit)-19 through -22.

¹³Ch. 74-310, § 1, at 952, Laws of Fla. certified by Florida Secretary of State, Rl-16(folder exhibit)-1.

 $^{^{14}\}mathrm{An}$ "and" was changed to an "or" by Ch. 77-174, § 1, at 719, Laws of Fla.

until the renewal application has been finally acted upon by the Department or, if there is court review of the Department's final agency action, until a later date as required by Section 120.60, F.S. 15

On or about December 21, 1982, the Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County, Florida ("the Board") submitted an application for a Class I Exploratory Well Construction and Testing Permit to the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation. 16 The stated purpose of the well, to be constructed at the Board's South Beaches Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant, was for exploration and injection testing. 17

¹⁵Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-9. In an opinion issued by the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation's Office of General Counsel on February 4, 1991 regarding a factual situation similar to the present one, it stated that "Rule 17-4.090 is based on Section 120.60(6), Florida Statutes." Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-23-Exhibit IV.

An earlier version of the rule, numbered Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-4.09 (1982), provided <u>inter alia</u>:

⁽¹⁾ Renewals. Prior to sixty days before expiration of any Department permit, the permittee shall apply for a renewal of a permit on forms and in a manner prescribed by the Department.

Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-9.

¹⁶Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R-2-27-10; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-1 at \P 3; Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-2; Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-23-2.

¹⁷Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-2 and Exhibit "1." See also Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-28.32(1) (Supp. 1982) certified by Secretary of State, R1-16(folder exhibit)-16 ("An exploratory well . . . is drilled for the specific purpose of obtaining sufficient information to determine the feasibility of underground injection at the proposed site.").

On or about December 23, 1983, the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation issued Permit No. UD05-64536 to the Board for the construction of a Class I Exploratory Test Injection Well at the South Beaches Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant. Permit No. UD05-64536 contained an initial expiration date of January 1, 1985. The expiration date of Permit No. UD05-64536 was modified several times, the final modification extending the expiration date to December 20, 1988. Permit No. UD05-64536 also contained the following condition:

Water for injection testing must come from the Indian River. Sewage effluent shall not be used during the injection tests.²¹

¹⁸Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-10; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's First Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-1 at ¶1; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-2 at ¶4; Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-2; Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-28-2.

¹⁹Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-10; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's First Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-1 at ¶2; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-2 at ¶4; Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-2.

²⁰Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-10, -11; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's First Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-2 at ¶s 3, 4, 5, 6; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-2 at ¶s 8, 11, 13, 15; Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-25-2; Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-2.

²¹Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-2 and Exhibit "2"; Official Records of Brevard County Utility Services Department certified by Richard H. Martens, R1-16(folder exhibit)-12.

On or about December 29, 1986, the Board submitted an application for a Class I Injection Well Operating Permit for the injection well at the South Beaches Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant. 22 The purpose of the application was to obtain authorization to use the injection well at the South Beaches Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant for the disposal of secondary domestic (sewage).²³ treated wastewater The application indicates that the project is "new" rather than "existing."24

The Florida Department of Environmental Regulation has neither granted nor denied the Board's application for a Class I Injection Well Operating Permit.²⁵ The Florida Department of Environmental Regulation has been hesitant to grant the permit in part because of unresolved concerns that the geologic stratum separating the zone of injected waste deposition from the overlying Floridan Aquifer may not have the properties necessary to adequately confine the injected waste in the zone of intended

²²Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-11; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-3; Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-3; Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-23-2.

²³Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-3 and Exhibit "4."

²⁴Id.

²⁵Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-11; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-3; Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-3; Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-23-2.

deposition and may not prevent migration of the waste into underground sources of drinking water. 26

Nevertheless, in a letter to the Board dated February 26, 1987, the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation confirmed its earlier verbal approval to begin utilizing the Class I well for injection of treated domestic wastewaters (sewage). The Board has used the Class I deep injection well at the South Beaches Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant to dispose of treated wastewaters by injection into the subsurface

Letter from Carlos Rivero deAguilar, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to Chuck Striffler, Brevard County Utility Services, dated June 20, 1989, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit P-2 ("As you are aware, although the county has applied for an operate permit for this well, water quality variations in the monitor well system have halted the processing of this permit application."); Letter from Carlos de-Aguilar, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to Lawrence S. Sims, Geraghty and Miller, dated May 1990, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit P-4 ("This application has been held in abeyance while variations in water quality in the existing monitoring well were investigated."); Memorandum from Marian Fugitt, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to Carlos Rivero deAguilar, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, dated July 30, 1991, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit P-6 ("Since IW-1 at the South Beaches facility has been operating for four years and the issue of adequate confinement remains unresolved, we feel that the Department should not issue a construction or operation permit for this injection well.").

²⁷Defendant's Request to Plaintiff's First Request for Admission, R1-16(folder exhibit)-2 at ¶ 4 and "Attachment C." This approval did not constitute the grant of the Board's application for a Class I Injection Well Operating Permit. See Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R2-27-11; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-3 at ¶ 23; Affidavit of Richard H. Martens, R1-25-3; Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-23-2.

on an intermittent basis, but not less often than every month since December 1988. 28

In 1992 the Florida Geologic Survey published a report in which it concludes that dramatic changes in water quality in the Lower Floridan Aquifer near the Board's Class I injection well are attributed to the vertical migration of injected waste across the geologic stratum separating the zone of injected waste deposition from the overlying Lower Floridan Aquifer.²⁹ The Survey also concludes that no geologic stratum separates the Lower Floridan Aquifer from the Upper Floridan Aquifer in the area of the Board's Class I injection well³⁰ and that lateral flow of groundwater in the Floridan Aquifer is generally south to southeast.³¹ Finally, the Survey concludes that the geologic stratum separating the Upper Floridan Aquifer from the Surficial Aquifer may, in some locations, be breached due to sinkhole activity or erosion, thereby allowing hydraulic communication

 $^{^{28}\}mbox{Joint Pretrial Stipulation, R1-27-12; Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Second Request for Admissions, R1-16(folder exhibit)-3 at § 19.$

²⁹Geologic Framework of the Lower Floridan Aquifer System, Brevard County, Florida, Volume I (1992), R1-16(folder exhibit) -91.

 $^{^{30}}$ <u>Id</u>., R1-16(folder exhibit)-52, -61.

^{31&}lt;u>Id.</u>, R1-16(folder exhibit)-51.

between the two aquifers.³² The Surficial Aquifer is regarded as an important source of drinking water by the Survey.³³

After reviewing several documents suggesting that the Board's Class I Exploratory Well Construction and Testing permit was not valid after December 20, 1988, 34 LEAF submitted a letter to the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation seeking records concerning the Department's position with regard to the operation of a well after its permit expiration date. 35 An

^{32&}lt;u>Id</u>., R1-16(folder exhibit)-47, -51.

^{33&}lt;u>Id.</u>, R1-16(folder exhibit)-45, -46.

³⁴E.g. Letter from Carlos Rivero deAguilar, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to Chuck Striffler, Brevard County, dated June 20, 1989, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit P-2 ("[T]he South Beaches Injection Well System has been operating without a valid Department Permit since December 1988 when the term of the existing Injection Well Construction Permit (No. UD05-64536) expired at the end of the maximum allottable 5 year period."); Letter from R.H. Martens, Brevard County, to Alex Alexander, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, dated April 18, 1991, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit P-3 ("We are anxious to return the South Beaches injection well to permitted status"); Letter from Carlos de-Aguilar, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to Lawrence S. Sims, Geraghty and Miller, Inc., dated May 29, 1990, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit P-4 ("Issuance of this permit will not only authorize the construction of the new monitor well but will serve to return the well system operation under a valid DER permit."); Memorandum from Rodney S. Dehan, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to Doug MacLaughlin, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, dated January 7, 1991, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit D-2 ("Rule 17-4.090(1), F.A.C., seems to be limited to renewals of operation permits. appears that this would not allow the operation of the well under the construction permit to be legally authorized beyond the expiration date of the construction permit even if the operation permit application was received more than 60 days prior to the expiration of the construction permit.").

³⁵Affidavit of Charles C. Aller, R1-24-1 and Exhibit I.

official of the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation replied that "[i]n the example of the [Board's] South Beaches facility, the construction permit expired on December 20, 1988, however, since an operation permit application was submitted to the Department on December 30, 1986, operational testing may continue as the construction permit conditions remain in effect due to the submittal of a timely application."³⁶

This position was based on an earlier opinion by an attorney employed by the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation concerning a different injection well.³⁷ In that attorney's opinion, "[a]pplying for an operation permit can be considered seeking 'renewal' of a construction permit." The attorney reasoned as follows:

Rule 17-4.090 is based on Section 120.60(6), Florida Statutes. That statute states that when a licensee has made timely and sufficient application for renewal of a license, the existing license shall not expire until the application has been finally acted upon by the agency. Since a construction permit usually includes approval to operate for a short period of time, applying for an operation permit is seeking renewal of the construction permit.³⁸

³⁶Letter from Charles C. Aller, Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to Andy Smith, LEAF, dated July 26, 1991, Dep. Cynthia Valencic at Exhibit D-3; Affidavit of Charles C. Aller, R1-24-1.

³⁷Affidavit of Doug MacLaughlin, R1-23-4.

³⁸ Id. at Exhibit IV.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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