IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA FILED SHD J. WHITE FEB 28 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURS

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

LEGAL ENVIRONMENTAL ASSISTANCE FOUNDATION, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 83,039

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____/

ON THE CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT CASE NO. 92-3200

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

NINA L. BONISKE ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 0788430 BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 2725 ST. JOHNS STREET BUILDING C, 3RD FLOOR MELBOURNE, FLORIDA 32940 (407) 633-2090

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the applicable federal law, an expiring state-issued construction and testing permit may be continued until the effective date of a new permit if "state law allows" for such a continuation. 40 CFR § 144.37. Based upon this federal regulation, the United States Court of Appeals determined that the proper inquiry in this case was whether "existing" Florida law allowed the DER to extend the duration of the County's Construction and Testing Permit.

Chapter 403, Fla. Stat., known as the "Florida Air and Water Pollution Control Act," authorizes the State (through the DER) to regulate "underground injection." The DER's statutory authority to issue a permit to operate a Class I injection well is governed by Chapter 403, Fla. Stat., as well as Fla. Admin. Code Chapters 17-4 (permitting) and 17-28 (underground injection control). Chapter 17-28 provides that the DER is the administering agency for the underground injection control rules.

The Record before this Court shows that the top officials of the DER interpreted Rules 17-4 and 17-28 to extend the County's permit until the DER acted upon the application. To reach this conclusion, the DER Secretary and Bureau Chief looked to the Rules governing underground injection control. First, Rule 17-4.090(1), Fla. Admin. Code, provides that when an application is timely the existing permit shall remain in effect until the DER renders final agency action on the submittal application. Since an operation permit application was submitted to the DER on December 30, 1986,

operational testing may continue as the construction permit conditions remain in effect due to the submittal of a timely application. Second, Rule 17-28.330(3)(a), F.A.C., specifically allows injection for the purpose of long-term testing (i.e., operational testing). Third, there are no rule specified limits to the length of the operational testing period. Therefore, the DER in its discretion determined that the County's injection well was operating under the "operational testing phase" of the construction permit which remained in effect due to the timely submittal of an application for an operation permit.

, •

Florida statutory authority regulating underground The injection declares that it is the State's policy that the DER shall "insure that existing and potential drinking water resources of the state remain free from harmful quantities of contaminants." Section 403.021(10), Fla. Stat. The legislature has charged the DER with the authority and primary responsibility to use its technical expertise to adopt specific rules implementing that statutory directive. Section 403.061(7), Fla. Stat. The DER's interpretation that the operational testing phase of the County's construction permit continues while the application is pending, allows the DER to maintain regulatory oversight and control of the facility by extending the "permit conditions" of the construction permit. This interpretation accords with the public policy enunciated in both the Safe Drinking Water Act and Chapter 403, Fla. Stat., directing the DER to regulate underground injection to protect the state's potential drinking water resources.

A Florida agency's interpretation of its own Rules and statutes it administers is entitled to great weight and should not be disregarded, unless "clearly erroneous." <u>Bolam v. Mobil Oil</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 893 F.2d 311 (11th Cir. 1990); <u>Pan American World Airways v.</u> <u>Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 427 So.2d 716 (Fla. 1983). The DER's interpretation does not have to be the only one, or even the most desirable or preferable, however, as long as the DER's interpretation is a "reasonable" one, the Court must defer to the DER's interpretation. <u>Little Munyon Island v. Department of Environmental Regulation</u>, 492 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). A reviewing court must defer to an agency's interpretation of an operable rule as long as the interpretation is consistent with legislative intent and is supported by substantial, competent evidence. <u>Reedy Creek Improvement District v. Department of</u> <u>Environmental Regulation</u>, 486 So.2d 642 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

LEAF has the burden to advance credible, competent evidence to show that the DER's interpretation of the rules at issue is either arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or not reasonably related to the statutory purpose. <u>LEAF v. Monsanto</u>, 12 FALR 1762, 1784 (1990). LEAF has provided no administrative or judicial authority or legislative history showing that the DER's interpretations of Rules 17-4 and 17-28 are inconsistent with the intent of Chapter 403, Fla. Stat. Thus, LEAF failed to meet its burden to advance credible, competent evidence to show that the DER's interpretations are "clearly erroneous." <u>LEAF v. Monsanto</u>, 12 FALR 1762 (1990).

Accordingly, the District Court correctly deferred to the DER's interpretation of the Florida UIC permitting rules in holding that, under existing Florida law, the County's construction and testing permit continued in effect until the DER acted upon the County's application for an operating permit. Based upon the District Court's determination that "Florida law allows" the extension of an expiring permit until a new permit is issued as provided in federal regulation 40 CFR § 144.37, the District Court correctly found that the Safe Drinking Water Act had not been violated by the County's continued operation of the underground injection well at the South Beaches Plant.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DEFERRED TO THE INTERPRETATION AND JUDGMENT OF THE DER, AS THE AGENCY IMPOSED WITH THE DUTY TO IMPLEMENT THE STATE OF FLORIDA UNDERGROUND INJECTION CONTROL PROGRAM, BY HOLDING THAT THE COUNTY'S TIMELY APPLICATION FOR AN INJECTION WELL OPERATING PERMIT SERVED TO EXTEND THE OPERATIONAL TESTING PHASE OF THE CONSTRUCTION AND TESTING PERMIT UNTIL THE DER ACTED UPON THE PENDING CONCLUDING APPLICATION, THAT THE COUNTY'S **OPERATION OF A CLASS I WASTEWATER TREATMENT** PLANT DID NOT VIOLATE THE SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT.

Under the Safe Drinking Water Act, the federal government is empowered to regulate the discharge of wastewater into the ground through a federal program administered by the EPA or through delegation of "primacy" to a State. On April 1, 1982, the Florida DER adopted its rules governing underground injection control. ("UIC"). These rules were designed to enable the DER to obtain authorization from the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") to implement the federally mandated Underground Injection Control Program in Florida. On March 9, 1983, the DER obtained "primacy" authorization from the EPA to implement the Florida underground injection control program, in lieu of the federal program.²⁹

A. <u>Federal law authorizes DER to continue an expiring permit</u> <u>as long as Florida Law allows for such a continuation.</u>

Once a program is established, all underground injections are unlawful unless authorized by a permit or a rule.³⁰ A "permit" is

³⁰ 40 CFR § 144.1.

²⁹ 40 CFR § 147.500 (1983).

defined as an authorization, license, or equivalent control document issued by an approved State to implement the requirements of the Safe Drinking Water Act.³¹ Pertinent federal law provides that:

A <u>state authorized</u> to administer the UIC Program <u>may</u> <u>continue</u> either EPA or <u>state issued permits</u> until the effective date of the <u>new</u> permits, <u>if state law allows</u>. Otherwise, the facility or activity is operating without a permit from the time of expiration of the old permit to the effective date of the State issued new permit.³² [Emphasis added]

Pursuant to that section, upon application for a "new" permit, the DER may continue a previously issued State permit until the effective date of the new permit if "state law allows."

In determining the common and ordinary meaning of a term, the court may look to the standard, non-legal dictionary definition of the word. <u>GEICO v. Novak</u>, 453 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1984). The plain meaning of the term "new" is something "used for the first time...different and distinct from what was before." The <u>American Heritage Dictionary</u> (1983 ed.). The federal law does not limit extension of the existing permit to "renewal" of the same type of permit, but provides for extension of an expiring <u>old</u> permit (whatever type of permit that might be) by submittal of a <u>new</u>

³¹ 40 CFR § 144.3.

к ¹

³² 40 CFR § 144.37(a) & (d). Interestingly, in the federally administered program, if the permittee has submitted a timely application for a new permit and the new permit is not issued by EPA (through no fault of the permittee) prior to the expiration date of the previous permit, the conditions of an expired permit issued by EPA continue until the effective date of a new permit. The DER's interpretation of the F.A.C. Rules at issue is consistent with the federally administered program.

permit application. Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the resolution of this case depends on one simple determination; whether "Florida law allows" the DER to continue the County's Class I Construction and Test Injection Permit (the <u>old</u> permit) until the DER takes final action upon the County's timely application for a Class I Operation Permit (the <u>new</u> permit) at the same facility.

B. <u>The applicable Florida law.</u>

Chapter 403, Fla. Stat., known as the "Florida Air and Water Pollution Control Act," authorizes the State (through the DER) to regulate "underground injection." The Act declares that state policy shall "insure that existing and potential drinking water resources of the State remain free from harmful quantities of contaminants."³³ The Florida Legislature charged the <u>DER</u> with the <u>primary authority</u> and responsibility to use its expertise <u>to adopt</u>, <u>modify and repeal specific rules to regulate underground injection</u> in the state.³⁴ The DER's statutory authority to issue a permit to operate a Class I injection well is governed by Chapter 403, Fla. Stat., as well as Fla. Admin. Code Chapters 17-4 (permitting) and 17-28 (underground injection control). Chapter 17-28 provides that the DER is the administering agency for the underground injection control rules.³⁵

³³ § 403.021(10), Florida Statutes (1993).

³⁴ § 403.061(7) and (14), Florida Statutes (1993).

³⁵ Rule 17-28.310(1), Fla. Admin. Code.

An "exploratory well"³⁶ is defined as "a cased well drilled in an area in which there is limited hydrologic and geologic data, to obtain sufficient data to determine feasibility of injection." An "injection well" is defined as "a well into which fluids are being or will be injected by gravity flow or under pressure."³⁷ With prior DER approval, an exploratory well may be "used as an injection well if it meets all applicable standards for a Class I well."³⁸ A "construction permit" is defined as the "legal authorization granted by the Department to construct, expand, modify, or make alterations to any installation and to temporarily operate and test such new or modified installations."³⁹

Rule 17-4.210(3),⁴⁰ Fla. Admin. Code, pertaining to construction permits provides in part:

When the Department issues a permit to construct, the permittee shall be allowed a period of time, specified in the permit, to construct, and to operate and test to determine compliance with Chapter 403, F.S., and the rules of the department. [Emphasis added]

- ³⁷ Rule 17-28.120(37), Fla. Admin. Code.
- ³⁸ Rule 17-28.120(25), Fla. Admin. Code.

³⁹ Rule 17-4.020(4), Fla. Admin. Code.

⁴⁰ This Rule applies to all DER construction permits. The statutory authority for this Rule includes Florida Statutes, § 403.021, § 403.031, § 403.061, and § 403.088.

³⁶ Rule 17-28.120(25), Fla. Admin. Code.

Rule 17-28.330(3)(a),⁴¹ Fla. Admin. Code, reads as follows:

, ¹

(3) Testing. (a) For Class I, <u>the construction permit</u> <u>includes a period of temporary injection operation for</u> <u>the purposes of long term testing</u>. Each well shall first be tested for integrity of construction, and shall be followed by a short term injection test of such duration to allow for the prediction of the operating pressure. [Emphasis added]

Rule 17-4.090(1),⁴² Fla. Admin. Code, reads as follows:

Renewals. Prior to sixty days before the expiration of any Department operation permit, the permittee shall apply for a renewal of a permit on forms and in a manner prescribed by the Department. A renewal application shall be timely and sufficient. If the application is submitted prior to sixty days before expiration of the permit, it will be considered timely and sufficient. If the renewal application is submitted at a later date, it will not be considered timely and sufficient unless it is submitted and made complete prior to the expiration of the operation permit. When the application for renewal is timely and sufficient, the existing permit will remain in effect until the renewal application has been finally acted upon by the Department or, if there is court review of the Department's final agency action, until a later date is required by Section 120.60, F.S. [Emphasis added]

⁴¹ The statutory authority for this rule includes Florida Statutes, § 403.061, Florida Statutes, § 403.087, § 403.101, § 403.704, and § 403.721. LEAF asserts that the DER's reliance on this Rule is inappropriate because Rule 17-28.330 applies to a "Class I - Test/ Injection Well Construction and Testing Permit" and the County's original permit was for a "Class I Exploratory Well Construction and Testing Permit." While LEAF is partially correct that the original permit application was for an exploratory well, Rule 17-28.320(3)(g) allows the conversion of an "exploratory" well to an "injection" well with DER's approval. There are several actions in the Record that show that DER considered the well as an "injection" well, culminating with the DER's authorization to the County in 1987 to inject treated effluent (sewage) through the well. See FN 12.

⁴² The statutory authority for this rule includes Fla. Stat., § 403.021, § 403.031, § 403.061, § 403.087, and § 403.088. The rule was amended in 1988 and renumbered (previously 17-4.09). This rule is consistent with the federally administered UIC Permit Program found at 40 CFR § 144.37(a) and (d). See FN 32.

The above-referenced Rules are based primarily upon the statutory authority found in Chapter 403, Fla. Stat., the "Florida Air and Water Pollution Control Act."

C. The DER's interpretation of the Florida law.

As the agency responsible for the permitting of underground injection wells in the State of Florida, the DER is charged with the responsibility of interpreting these rules and regulations in accordance with the intent of Chapter 403, Fla. Stat. As explained below, the highest officials of the DER Department that has jurisdiction over underground injection, have interpreted Chapters 17-4 and 17-28 to mean that applying for an operation permit for an underground injection well prior to expiration of a construction and testing permit extends the authorization of the existing permit until the new permit application is finally acted upon by the DER.

1. <u>DER's official response to the LEAF Petition.</u>

On January 2, 1991, LEAF filed a Petition with the E.P.A. Administrator challenging, among other things, the DER's interpretation of the permitting rules, specifically demanding withdrawal of the DER's delegated authority over the Florida Underground Injection Control (UIC) Program.⁴³ LEAF's Petition alleged that:

The Brevard County South Beaches Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant operated without a valid permit from December, 1988, when the term of the existing injection well construction permit expired, until as recently as

⁴³ Depo. of Cynthia Valencic, Exh. D-5.

December 27, 1990. The Department failed to require the cessation of unauthorized injection activities...⁴⁴

The DER's official response to LEAF's Petition dated April 15,

1991, submitted by Carol Browner, Secretary of the DER⁴⁵, provides:

Construction Permit No. UD05-64536 for the South Beaches Regional Wastewater Treatment plant injection wells expired on December 20, 1988. An application to operate this facility dated December 30, 1986 was received by DER from Brevard County. In accordance with Rule 17-4.090, F.A.C., this was a timely submittal and hence extends the construction permit, including the operational testing phase with effluent, until such time as the operating permit application is either issued or denied...Thus, the Department has made no effort to require the cessation of activity at the South Beaches facility <u>because all</u> <u>injection activity</u> there is <u>fully authorized</u> under Rule 17-4.090, F.A.C. No enforcement action is necessary.

* * *

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